

TITLE 92: TRANSPORTATION
CHAPTER II: SECRETARY OF STATE

PART 1030
ISSUANCE OF LICENSES

1		
2		
3		
4		
5		
6		
7	Section	
8	1030.1	Definitions
9	1030.5	Procedure for Obtaining a Standard Driver's License or Identification Card
10	1030.6	Procedure for Obtaining a Visa Status Temporary Visitor's Driver's License
11		Pursuant to IVC Section 6-105.1(a)
12	1030.7	Procedure for Obtaining a Non-Visa Status Temporary Visitor's Driver's License
13		Pursuant to IVC Section 6-105.1(a-5)
14	1030.8	Procedure for Obtaining a Real ID Compliant Driver's License or Identification
15		Card
16	1030.10	What Persons Shall Not Be Licensed or Granted Permits
17	1030.11	Procedure for Obtaining a Driver's License/Temporary Visitor's Driver's License
18		(Renumbered)
19	1030.12	Identification Cards for the Homeless
20	1030.13	Denial of License or Permit
21	1030.14	Emergency Contact Database
22	1030.15	Cite for Re-testing
23	1030.16	Physical and Mental Evaluation
24	1030.17	Errors in Issuance of Driver's License/Cancellation
25	1030.18	Medical Criteria Affecting Driver Performance
26	1030.20	Classification of Drivers – References (Repealed)
27	1030.22	Medical Examiner's Certificate – CLP or CDL Holders
28	1030.25	Remote Renewals of Driver's Licenses and Identification Cards Safe Driver
29		License Renewals
30	1030.26	Identification Cards for IDOC/IDJJ Applicants
31	1030.27	Identification Cards for Youth in Care
32	1030.30	Classification Standards
33	1030.40	Fifth Wheel Equipped Trucks
34	1030.50	Bus Driver's Authority, Religious Organization and Senior Citizen Transportation
35	1030.55	Commuter Van Driver Operating a For-Profit Ridesharing Arrangement
36	1030.60	Third-Party Certification Program
37	1030.63	Religious Exemption for Social Security Numbers (Repealed)
38	1030.65	Instruction Permits
39	1030.66	Adult Driver Education
40	1030.70	Driver's License Testing/Vision Screening
41	1030.75	Driver's License Testing/Vision Screening With Vision Aid Arrangements Other
42		Than Standard Eye Glasses or Contact Lenses
43	1030.80	Driver's License Testing/Written Test

44	1030.81	Endorsements
45	1030.82	Charter Bus Driver Endorsement Requirements
46	1030.83	Hazardous Material Endorsement
47	1030.84	Vehicle Inspection
48	1030.85	Driver's License Testing/Road Test
49	1030.86	Multiple Attempts – Written and/or Road Tests
50	1030.88	Exemption of Facility Administered Road Test
51	1030.89	Temporary Driver's Licenses and Temporary Instruction Permits
52	1030.90	Requirement for Photograph and Signature of Licensee on a Driver's License or Identification Card
53		
54	1030.91	Person with a Disability Identification Card and Wallet Card
55	1030.92	Restrictions
56	1030.93	Restricted Local Licenses
57	1030.94	Duplicate or Corrected Driver's License or Instruction Permit
58	1030.95	Consular Licenses (Repealed)
59	1030.96	Seasonal Restricted Commercial Driver's License
60	1030.97	Invalidation of a Driver's License, Permit and/or Driving Privilege
61	1030.98	School Bus Endorsement or Learner's Permit
62	1030.100	Anatomical Gift Donor (Repealed)
63	1030.110	Emergency Medical Information Card
64	1030.115	Change-of-Address
65	1030.120	Issuance of a Probationary License
66	1030.130	Grounds for Cancellation of a Probationary License
67	1030.140	Use of Captured Images
68	1030.150	Veteran Designation on Driver's License or Identification Card
69	1030.160	Extension of Expiration Dates
70	1030.170	Modification of Requirements for Renewal of Driver's Licenses and Issuance of a Commercial Driver's License
71		
72		
73	1030.APPENDIX A	Questions Asked of a Driver's License Applicant
74	1030.APPENDIX B	Acceptable Identification Documents – Applicants for a Standard Identification Card, Driver's License, Instruction Permit, Visa Status Temporary Visitor's Driver's License Pursuant to IVC Section 6-105.1(a) or Visa Status Temporary Visitor's Instruction Permit (Non-Real ID)
75		
76		
77		
78		
79	1030.APPENDIX C	Acceptable Identification Documents – Applicants for a Non-Visa Status Temporary Visitor's Driver's License or Non-Visa Status Temporary Visitor's Instruction Permit Pursuant to IVC Section 6-105.1(a-5)
80		
81		
82		
83	1030.APPENDIX D	Acceptable Identification Documents – Applicants for a Real ID Compliant Driver's License or Identification Card
84		
85		

86 AUTHORITY: Implementing Ch. 6, Article I and authorized by Section 2-104(b) of the Illinois
 87 Vehicle Code [625 ILCS 5], and the rulemaking authority established by 625 ILCS 5/6-521.

88
 89 SOURCE: Filed March 30, 1971; amended at 3 Ill. Reg. 7, p. 13, effective April 2, 1979;
 90 amended at 4 Ill. Reg. 27, p. 422, effective June 23, 1980; amended at 6 Ill. Reg. 2400, effective
 91 February 10, 1982; codified at 6 Ill. Reg. 12674; amended at 9 Ill. Reg. 2716, effective February
 92 20, 1985; amended at 10 Ill. Reg. 303, effective December 24, 1985; amended at 10 Ill. Reg.
 93 15130, effective September 2, 1986; amended at 10 Ill. Reg. 18182, effective October 14, 1986;
 94 amended at 11 Ill. Reg. 9331, effective April 28, 1987; amended at 11 Ill. Reg. 18292, effective
 95 October 23, 1987; amended at 12 Ill. Reg. 3027, effective January 14, 1988; amended at 12 Ill.
 96 Reg. 13221, effective August 1, 1988; amended at 12 Ill. Reg. 16915, effective October 1, 1988;
 97 amended at 12 Ill. Reg. 19777, effective November 15, 1988; amended at 13 Ill. Reg. 5192,
 98 effective April 1, 1989; amended at 13 Ill. Reg. 7808, effective June 1, 1989; amended at 13 Ill.
 99 Reg. 12880, effective July 19, 1989; amended at 13 Ill. Reg. 12978, effective July 19, 1989;
 100 amended at 13 Ill. Reg. 13898, effective August 22, 1989; amended at 13 Ill. Reg. 15112,
 101 effective September 8, 1989; amended at 13 Ill. Reg. 17095, effective October 18, 1989;
 102 amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 4570, effective March 8, 1990; amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 4908, effective
 103 March 9, 1990; amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 5183, effective March 21, 1990; amended at 14 Ill. Reg.
 104 8707, effective May 16, 1990; amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 9246, effective May 16, 1990; amended at
 105 14 Ill. Reg. 9498, effective May 17, 1990; amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 10111, effective June 11,
 106 1990; amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 10510, effective June 18, 1990; amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 12077,
 107 effective July 5, 1990; amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 15487, effective September 10, 1990; amended at
 108 15 Ill. Reg. 15783, effective October 18, 1991; amended at 16 Ill. Reg. 2182, effective January
 109 24, 1992; emergency amendment at 16 Ill. Reg. 12228, effective July 16, 1992, for a maximum
 110 of 150 days; emergency expired on December 13, 1992; amended at 16 Ill. Reg. 18087, effective
 111 November 17, 1992; emergency amendment at 17 Ill. Reg. 1219, effective January 13, 1993, for
 112 a maximum of 150 days; amended at 17 Ill. Reg. 2025, effective February 1, 1993; amended at
 113 17 Ill. Reg. 7065, effective May 3, 1993; amended at 17 Ill. Reg. 8275, effective May 24, 1993;
 114 amended at 17 Ill. Reg. 8522, effective May 27, 1993; amended at 17 Ill. Reg. 19315, effective
 115 October 22, 1993; amended at 18 Ill. Reg. 1591, effective January 14, 1994; amended at 18 Ill.
 116 Reg. 7478, effective May 2, 1994; amended at 18 Ill. Reg. 16457, effective October 24, 1994;
 117 amended at 19 Ill. Reg. 10159, effective June 29, 1995; amended at 20 Ill. Reg. 3891, effective
 118 February 14, 1996; emergency amendment at 20 Ill. Reg. 8358, effective June 4, 1996, for a
 119 maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment repealed in response to an objection of the Joint
 120 Committee on Administrative Rules at 20 Ill. Reg. 14279; amended at 21 Ill. Reg. 6588,
 121 effective May 19, 1997; amended at 21 Ill. Reg. 10992, effective July 29, 1997; amended at 22
 122 Ill. Reg. 1466, effective January 1, 1998; emergency amendment at 23 Ill. Reg. 9552, effective
 123 August 1, 1999, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 23 Ill. Reg. 13947, effective November
 124 8, 1999; amended at 24 Ill. Reg. 1259, effective January 7, 2000; emergency amendment at 24
 125 Ill. Reg. 1686, effective January 13, 2000, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 24 Ill. Reg.
 126 6955, effective April 24, 2000; emergency amendment at 24 Ill. Reg. 13044, effective August
 127 10, 2000, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 24 Ill. Reg. 18400, effective December 4,
 128 2000; amended at 25 Ill. Reg. 959, effective January 5, 2001; amended at 25 Ill. Reg. 7742,

129 effective June 5, 2001; amended at 25 Ill. Reg. 12646, effective September 24, 2001; emergency
 130 amendment at 25 Ill. Reg. 12658, effective September 24, 2001, for a maximum of 150 days;
 131 emergency expired February 20, 2002; amended at 26 Ill. Reg. 9961, effective June 24, 2002;
 132 amended at 27 Ill. Reg. 855, effective January 3, 2003; emergency amendment at 27 Ill. Reg.
 133 7340, effective April 14, 2003, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired September 10,
 134 2003; emergency amendment at 27 Ill. Reg. 16968, effective October 17, 2003, for a maximum
 135 of 150 days; emergency expired March 14, 2004; emergency amendment at 28 Ill. Reg. 384,
 136 effective January 1, 2004, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired May 29, 2004;
 137 amended at 28 Ill. Reg. 8895, effective June 14, 2004; amended at 28 Ill. Reg. 10776, effective
 138 July 13, 2004; amended at 29 Ill. Reg. 920, effective January 1, 2005; emergency amendment at
 139 29 Ill. Reg. 2469, effective January 31, 2005, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired
 140 June 29, 2005; amended at 29 Ill. Reg. 9488, effective June 17, 2005; amended at 29 Ill. Reg.
 141 12519, effective July 28, 2005; amended at 29 Ill. Reg. 13237, effective August 11, 2005;
 142 amended at 29 Ill. Reg. 13580, effective August 16, 2005; amended at 30 Ill. Reg. 910, effective
 143 January 6, 2006; amended at 30 Ill. Reg. 5621, effective March 7, 2006; amended at 30 Ill. Reg.
 144 11365, effective June 15, 2006; emergency amendment at 30 Ill. Reg. 11409, effective June 19,
 145 2006, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired November 15, 2006; amended at 31 Ill.
 146 Reg. 4782, effective March 12, 2007; amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 5096, effective March 15, 2007;
 147 amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 5864, effective March 29, 2007; amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 6370, effective
 148 April 12, 2007; amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 7643, effective May 16, 2007; amended at 31 Ill. Reg.
 149 11342, effective July 18, 2007; amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 14547, effective October 9, 2007;
 150 amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 14849, effective October 22, 2007; amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 16543,
 151 effective November 27, 2007; amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 16843, effective January 1, 2008;
 152 emergency amendment at 32 Ill. Reg. 208, effective January 2, 2008, for a maximum of 150
 153 days; amended at 32 Ill. Reg. 6544, effective April 4, 2008; amended at 33 Ill. Reg. 2391,
 154 effective January 21, 2009; amended at 33 Ill. Reg. 8489, effective June 5, 2009; amended at 33
 155 Ill. Reg. 9794, effective June 29, 2009; amended at 33 Ill. Reg. 11620, effective July 22, 2009;
 156 amended at 33 Ill. Reg. 14185, effective September 28, 2009; amended at 34 Ill. Reg. 563,
 157 effective December 22, 2009; amended at 34 Ill. Reg. 9457, effective June 23, 2010; amended at
 158 34 Ill. Reg. 15418, effective September 22, 2010; amended at 34 Ill. Reg. 19071, effective
 159 November 22, 2010; amended at 35 Ill. Reg. 2197, effective January 21, 2011; amended at 35 Ill.
 160 Reg. 4692, effective March 3, 2011; amended at 35 Ill. Reg. 19664, effective November 23,
 161 2011; amended at 36 Ill. Reg. 3924, effective February 27, 2012; amended at 36 Ill. Reg. 7255,
 162 effective April 26, 2012; amended at 36 Ill. Reg. 14755, effective September 18, 2012; amended
 163 at 37 Ill. Reg. 7776, effective May 22, 2013; amended at 37 Ill. Reg. 14176, effective September
 164 1, 2013; amended at 37 Ill. Reg. 19342, effective November 28, 2013; amended at 38 Ill. Reg.
 165 7946, effective March 28, 2014; emergency amendment at 38 Ill. Reg. 8429, effective April 4,
 166 2014, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 38 Ill. Reg. 12515, effective July 1, 2014;
 167 amended at 38 Ill. Reg. 16366, effective July 21, 2014; amended at 38 Ill. Reg. 20039, effective
 168 October 1, 2014; amended at 39 Ill. Reg. 1182, effective January 5, 2015; amended at 39 Ill.
 169 Reg. 5083, effective March 23, 2015; amended at 39 Ill. Reg. 8028, effective May 21, 2015;
 170 amended at 39 Ill. Reg. 11531, effective July 28, 2015; amended at 39 Ill. Reg. 14930, effective
 171 October 29, 2015; amended at 40 Ill. Reg. 1882, effective January 12, 2016; amended at 40 Ill.

172 Reg. 7330, effective May 2, 2016; amended at 40 Ill. Reg. 13637, effective September 19, 2016;
 173 amended at 40 Ill. Reg. 15397, effective October 26, 2016; amended at 41 Ill. Reg. 438,
 174 December 29, 2016; amended at 41 Ill. Reg. 3009, effective February 24, 2017; amended at 41
 175 Ill. Reg. 13665, effective October 30, 2017; amended at 42 Ill. Reg. 1886, effective January 3,
 176 2018; amended at 42 Ill. Reg. 2891, effective January 29, 2018; amended at 42 Ill. Reg. 4969,
 177 effective March 5, 2018; amended at 42 Ill. Reg. 11499, effective June 8, 2018; amended at 42
 178 Ill. Reg. 20548, effective October 30, 2018; amended at 43 Ill. Reg. 3724, effective March 4,
 179 2019; amended at 43 Ill. Reg. 5322, effective April 24, 2019; amended at 44 Ill. Reg. 2041,
 180 effective December 31, 2019; emergency amendment at 44 Ill. Reg. 5477, effective March 16,
 181 2020, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment at 44 Ill. Reg. 5839, effective March
 182 17, 2020, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment to emergency rule at 44 Ill. Reg.
 183 6650, effective April 9, 2020, for the remainder of the 150 days; emergency amendment at 44 Ill.
 184 Reg. 10011, effective May 21, 2020, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 44 Ill. Reg. 16818,
 185 effective September 29, 2020; emergency amendment effective March 17, 2020, as amended
 186 April 9, 2020, repealed at 44 Ill. Reg. 11603, effective June 30, 2020; emergency amendment at
 187 44 Ill. Reg. 11898, effective June 30, 2020, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment
 188 to emergency rule at 44 Ill. Reg. 13823, effective August 7, 2020, for the remainder of the 150
 189 days; emergency amendment to emergency rule at 44 Ill. Reg. 16534, effective September 22,
 190 2020, for the remainder of the 150 days; amended at 44 Ill. Reg. 12607, effective July 7, 2020;
 191 amended at 44 Ill. Reg. 16818, effective September 29, 2020; amended at 44 Ill. Reg. 18951,
 192 effective November 19, 2020; amended at 45 Ill. Reg. 732, effective December 23, 2020;
 193 emergency amendment at 45 Ill. Reg. 5450, effective April 8, 2021 for a maximum of 150 days;
 194 emergency expired September 4, 2021; amended at 45 Ill. Reg. 6062, effective April 23, 2021;
 195 emergency amendment at 45 Ill. Reg. 9197, effective July 2, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days;
 196 amended at 45 Ill. Reg. 9472, effective July 7, 2021; amended at 45 Ill. Reg. 13406, effective
 197 October 5, 2021; amended at 45 Ill. Reg. 15086, effective November 9, 2021; emergency
 198 amendment at 46 Ill. Reg. 554, effective December 17, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days;
 199 emergency amendment to emergency rule at 46 Ill. Reg. 1377, effective January 3, 2022, for the
 200 remainder of the 150 days; emergency amendment to emergency rule at 46 Ill. Reg. 2156,
 201 effective January 19, 2022, for the remainder of the 150 days; emergency amendment to
 202 emergency rule at 46 Ill. Reg. 5603, effective March 21, 2022, for the remainder of the 150 days;
 203 emergency rule as amended expired May 15, 2022; emergency amendment at 46 Ill. Reg. 6998,
 204 effective April 22, 2022, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 46 Ill. Reg. 7823, effective
 205 April 27, 2022; amended at 46 Ill. Reg. 9093, effective May 23, 2022; emergency amendment at
 206 46 Ill. Reg. 14087, effective July 21, 2022, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 46 Ill. Reg.
 207 16402, effective September 15, 2022; amended at 46 Ill. Reg. 19214, effective November 15,
 208 2022; emergency amendment at 47 Ill. Reg. 268, effective December 20, 2022 for a maximum of
 209 150 days; amended at 47 Ill. Reg. 189, effective December 21, 2022; emergency amendment at
 210 47 Ill. Reg. 1547, effective January 13, 2023, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 47 Ill.
 211 Reg. 7791, effective May 17, 2023; emergency amendment at 47 Ill. Reg. 14580, effective
 212 September 26, 2023, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 47 Ill. Reg. 17529, effective
 213 November 7, 2023; amended at 48 Ill. Reg. 2268, effective January 25, 2024; amended at 48 Ill.

214 Reg. 5751, effective April 1, 2024; amended at 48 Ill. Reg. 6080, effective April 5, 2024;
215 amended at 48 Ill. Reg. _____, effective _____.

216
217 **Section 1030.25 Remote Renewals of Driver's Licenses and Identification Cards**~~Safe~~
218 **Driver License Renewals**

- 219
- 220 a) The Department may ~~remotely renew~~~~centrally issue~~ a driver's license ~~or~~
221 ~~identification card of a person~~~~renewal to an applicant~~ who is not otherwise
222 ineligible for a driver's license ~~or identification card~~ and meets the eligibility
223 criteria for renewal ~~as set forth in this Section~~~~through the Safe Driver Renewal~~
224 ~~Program~~. Eligible applicants are ~~mailed a renewal~~~~sent a Safe Driver Renewal~~
225 notice indicating current eligibility for ~~remote renewal~~~~the program, by mail~~,
226 approximately 90 days prior to the expiration of their current driver's license ~~or~~
227 ~~identification card~~.
- 228
- 229 b) Safe Driver Renewal applicants. Applicants whose driving records are devoid of
230 any convictions of traffic violations or evidence of committing an offense for
231 which mandatory revocation would be required upon conviction pursuant to
232 Section 6-205 of the IVC [625 ILCS 5/6-109(c)] may renew their driver's license
233 ~~by making application~~ by mail, Internet, or telephone. Applicants who are no
234 longer eligible due to a change in their driving record will be denied at time of
235 application through the Internet and telephone and shall be instructed to appear at
236 a driver's license facility. Applicants who are no longer eligible at time of renewal
237 who have submitted the application by mail will have their application and fee
238 returned, with the reason of ineligibility, and shall be directed to appear at a
239 driver's license facility.
- 240
- 241 c) A driver is not eligible for Safe Driver Renewal if any of the following apply:
- 242
- 243 1) The driver is the holder of a Commercial Driver's License;
- 244
- 245 2) The driving record contains a withdrawal action;
- 246
- 247 3) The driver is under the age of ~~21~~~~22~~ or greater than the age of ~~78~~~~74~~;
- 248
- 249 4) The driver's license has been expired over one year, ~~excluding any~~
250 ~~extensions due to Covid-19~~;
- 251
- 252 5) The driver's last two renewals were completed ~~remotely~~~~through the Safe~~
253 ~~Driver Renewal or online renewal program~~;
- 254
- 255 6) The driver's license expiration is greater than one year;
- 256

- 257 7) The driver is required to submit a medical or vision specialist report;
258
259 8) The driving record contains a conviction;
260
261 9) The driver holds a school bus driver permit;
262
263 10) The driving record contains a disposition of court supervision;
264
265 11) The driving record indicates the driver has been involved in a property
266 damage, personal injury, or fatal accident;
267
268 12) The driver holds a restricted local license;
269
270 13) The driver is less than 26 years of age and has not met a Selective Service
271 obligation;
272
273 14) The driver is authorized to be in the United States temporarily and must
274 submit updated documentation allowing the driver's continued presence in
275 the United States~~The driver holds a visa status Temporary Visitor's~~
276 ~~Driver's license;~~
277
278 15) The driver's social security number has not been verified through the
279 Social Security On-line Verification System, if the driver has a social
280 security number;
281
282 16) The driver must meet the reporting requirements of the Sex Offender
283 Registration Act;
284
285 17) The driver's file does not contain a suitable image.
286
287 18) The driver is 74 years of age or older and holds a drivers' license with a
288 J50 or J51 restriction.
289
290 d) Online Renewal of Driver's License
291 Applicants who are required to take a written test at every other renewal may
292 renew a drivers' license online at the renewal where the written test is not
293 required. A driver is not eligible for online driver's license renewal if any of the
294 following apply:
295
296 1) The driver holds a Commercial Driver's License with a hazardous
297 materials endorsement;
298
299 2) The driver is under the age of 21 or greater than the age of 78;

- 300
- 301 3) The driver's license has been expired over one year;
- 302
- 303 4) The driver's last renewal was completed remotely;
- 304
- 305 5) The driver's license expiration is greater than one year;
- 306
- 307 6) The driver is required to submit a medical or vision specialist report;
- 308
- 309 7) The driver holds a school bus driver permit;
- 310
- 311 8) The driving record contains a notation that the driver has been involved in
- 312 a property damage, personal injury, or fatal crash;
- 313
- 314 9) The driver holds a restricted local license;
- 315
- 316 10) The driver is less than 26 years of age and has not met a Selective Service
- 317 obligation;
- 318
- 319 11) The driver is authorized to be in the United States temporarily and must
- 320 submit updated documentation allowing the driver's continued presence in
- 321 the United States;
- 322
- 323 12) The driver's social security number has not been verified through the
- 324 Social Security Online Verification System, if the driver has a social
- 325 security number;
- 326
- 327 13) The driver must meet the reporting requirements of the Sex Offender
- 328 Registration Act; or
- 329
- 330 14) The driver's file does not contain a suitable image.
- 331
- 332 15) The driver is 74 years of age or older and holds a driver's license with a
- 333 J50 or J51 restriction.
- 334

335 e) Online Renewal of an Identification Card
336 Holders of an Illinois Identification Cards may renew the identification card
337 online if none of the following conditions apply:

- 338
- 339 1) The applicant is under the age of 21 and greater than the age of 64;
- 340
- 341 2) The identification card has been expired for more than one year;
- 342

- 343 3) The identification card is suspended, revoked, or cancelled;
344
345 4) The applicant holds a homeless person ID card;
346
347 5) The applicant holds a person with a disability ID card;
348
349 6) The applicant is authorized to be in the United States temporarily and must
350 submit updated documentation allowing the applicant's continued presence
351 in the United States;
352
353 7) The applicant's social security number has not been verified through the
354 Social Security Online Verification System, if the applicant has a social
355 security number;
356
357 8) The applicant's file does not contain a suitable image; or
358
359 9) The applicant's address has changed since the identification card was
360 issued or renewed, whichever is most recent.
361
362 10) The applicant's last 2 identification card renewals were completed
363 remotely.
364
365 f.d) By submission of a remote renewal~~Safe Driver Renewal~~ application for a driver's
366 license, the driver affirms that:
367
368 1) The driver has not been issued corrective lenses (eyeglasses/contacts) for
369 driving since the last renewal.
370
371 2) The driver's license or privilege to obtain a license is not suspended,
372 revoked, cancelled, or refused in this or any other state.
373
374 3) The driver does not presently hold a valid driver's license or identification
375 card in any other state.
376
377 ~~4) The driver's license is not being held by a court in lieu of bail.~~
378
379 ~~45)~~ The driver does not have any condition that might cause a temporary loss
380 of consciousness.
381
382 ~~56)~~ The driver has no mental or physical condition that might interfere with
383 safe driving.
384

- 385 67) The driver does not use any drugs, including prescription medication, or
386 alcohol to an extent that they impair driving ability.
- 387
- 388 78) A court has not found the driver to have a mental disability or disease, or a
389 court has not committed the driver to a mental health facility within the
390 last four years.
- 391
- 392 89) The driver's legal name or gender has not changed.
- 393
- 394 g) By submission of an online renewal application for an identification card, the
395 applicant affirms that:
- 396
- 397 1) The applicant's legal name or gender has not changed; and
- 398
- 399 2) The applicant's does not currently hold a valid driver's license or
400 identification card in any other state.
- 401
- 402 he) The fees collected for the renewal~~issuance~~ of a driver's license or identification
403 card shall be in accordance with IVC Section 6-118 or Section 12 of the Illinois
404 Identification Card Act [15 ILCS 335] except that a processing fee will be
405 charged by the service provider for applications received by telephone and
406 Internet.
- 407
- 408 if) If the renewal applicant does not receive the driver's license or identification card
409 by mail, the applicant may be issued one duplicate driver's license or
410 identification card, at no fee, provided an application for a duplicate is filed
411 within 90 days after the date of the renewal application and the driver's license or
412 identification card was not returned to the Department as undeliverable. If the
413 renewed~~a centrally issued~~ driver's license or identification card is not returned to
414 the Department by the U.S. Post Office as undeliverable, the applicant shall be
415 required to appear at a driver services facility with one form of proof of residence
416 address as outlined in Appendix B. The applicant shall be charged the fee for a
417 corrected license or identification card as set forth in IVC Section 6-118 or
418 Section 12 of the Illinois Identification Card Act if a change is required upon
419 submission of the residence address documents.

420

421 (Source: Amended at 48 Ill. Reg. _____, effective _____)

422

423 **Section 1030.90 Requirement for Photograph and Signature of Licensee on a Driver's**
424 **License or Identification Card**

425

- 426 a) Application
- 427 Every driver's license issued pursuant to IVC Section 6-110 and identification

428 card issued pursuant to Section 4 of the Illinois Identification Card Act shall
 429 include, as an integral part of the license or card, a head and shoulder, full-faced
 430 color photograph of the applicant~~driver~~ to whom the driver's license or
 431 identification card is being issued. A full-faced photograph must be taken without
 432 any obstruction of the applicant's facial features or any items covering any portion
 433 of the face. Prescription glasses may be allowed. The driver's license or
 434 identification card shall be a photographically generated document that also
 435 includes the required information pertaining to the applicant~~driver~~, the
 436 applicant's~~driver's~~ signature, and other special security features to reduce the
 437 possibility of alteration ~~and~~/or illegal reproduction. The driver's license or
 438 identification card must utilize a photograph taken of the driver at a Driver
 439 Services Facility that is produced by equipment specifically designed for this
 440 purpose. The photograph and signature must be updated at least every 12 years for
 441 a driver's license and at least every 15 years for an identification card unless the
 442 applicant for either holds a military deferral certificate or civilian employee
 443 deferral card issued by the Department~~The driver's license must utilize a~~
 444 ~~photograph and signature updated at least every 8 years, unless the driver holds a~~
 445 ~~military deferral certificate or civilian employee deferral card issued by the~~
 446 ~~Department.~~

447
 448 b) Exceptions

449 Exceptions may be made in the best interest of individual Illinois drivers or
 450 identification card holders as follows:

451
 452 1) Established Religious Convictions in the issuance of a driver's license
 453 only

454
 455 A) A driver will not be required to submit to a photograph if sufficient
 456 justification is provided by the driver to establish that a photograph
 457 would be in violation of or contradictory to the driver's religious
 458 convictions. If a driver declares that the use of a photograph is
 459 against the driver's~~his/her~~ religious convictions, the driver will be
 460 given an Affidavit to be completed. This Affidavit contains
 461 designated areas for a detailed written explanation of the reasons
 462 why a photograph is against the driver's religious convictions, a
 463 place for the driver's signature and date, the designation of the
 464 religious sect or denomination involved, space for a minister or
 465 other religious leader to apply a~~his/her~~ signature attesting to the
 466 explanation the driver has offered, along with the date and official
 467 title of the minister or religious leader.

468
 469 B) The Affidavit shall be forwarded by the driver to the Driver
 470 Services Department Central Office in Springfield where a review

471 and a decision will be made by the Director of the Driver Services
472 Department relative to the issuance or non-issuance of a valid
473 driver's license without photograph. To assist the Director in this
474 decision, a committee of three administrative personnel will be
475 appointed by the Director. Each Affidavit will be reviewed by
476 each member of the committee, and each individual
477 recommendation will be made to the Director for his final decision.
478

479 C) A non-photo temporary driver's license, not to exceed 90 days in
480 duration, shall be issued to allow for driving privileges during the
481 interim period while the Affidavit will be reviewed and a decision
482 will be made by the Director.
483

484 D) Upon approval by the Director, a valid driver's license without a
485 photograph will be issued from the Central Office utilizing an
486 application signed by the driver. The driver's license will be
487 mailed to the driver's home address.
488

489 2) Facial Disfigurements in the issuance of a driver's license only
490

491 A) When a driver requests a driver's license without a photograph
492 because the driver states that it is embarrassing or distasteful to
493 submit to a photograph because of a facial disfigurement caused by
494 disease, trauma or congenital condition, the requirement of a
495 photograph may be waived. The Supervisor of the Driver Services
496 Facility in which the driver appears shall make a decision, based
497 upon the extent of the facial disfigurement, regarding the issuance
498 of a driver's license without a photograph. Should the Supervisor
499 approve the issuance of a driver's license without a photograph, the
500 driver's license will be issued from the Central Office utilizing an
501 application signed by the driver. The driver's license will be
502 mailed to the driver's home address.
503

504 B) Should the Supervisor not approve the issuance of a driver's
505 license without a photograph, the Supervisor will forward a written
506 statement from the driver, along with a statement from the
507 Supervisor providing detailed information to the Director of the
508 Driver Services Department regarding the extent of the
509 disfigurement and the Supervisor's justification for disapproval.
510 The Director of the Driver Services Department may obtain further
511 information ~~and~~ or professional opinions to support an objective
512 decision regarding whether a valid driver's license without the
513 photograph may be issued.

514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549
550
551
552
553
554
555
556

- C) A non-photo temporary driver's license, not to exceed 90 days in duration, shall be issued to allow driving privileges during the interim period while the driver's license is being issued, or the statements relating to disapproval are being reviewed and a decision is being made.
 - D) Upon approval by the Director, a valid driver's license without a photograph will be issued from the Central Office utilizing an application signed by the driver. The driver's license will be mailed to the driver's home address.
- 3) Out-of-State-in the issuance of a driver's license only
- A) Drivers who are temporarily residing outside the State of Illinois ~~and/or~~ who are temporarily absent from the State at the expiration date of the driver's license may apply for a valid driver's license without photograph and signature because of their inability to appear at an Illinois Driver Services Facility. If an Illinois driver declares, in writing, that the driver~~he/she~~ is out-of-state at the time the driver's license must be renewed, and submits this information with the properly completed application and renewal fee, a driver's license may be issued without the driver's photograph and signature.
 - B) The driver~~However, the driver will be informed that he/she~~ must appear at a Driver Services Facility within 45 days after~~upon~~ returning to Illinois and exchange this valid driver's license without photograph and signature for a driver's license containing the driver's photograph and signature. This replacement driver's license is issued without additional charge to the driver. If the driver does not return to Illinois and obtain a replacement driver's license with the photograph and signature, the driver's license without the photograph and signature may not be renewed upon expiration unless the driver submits an affidavit attesting to the fact that he/she has not returned to the State of Illinois during the term of the driver's license without the photograph and signature.
 - C) A non-photo temporary driver's license may be issued to those drivers who plan to return to Illinois within a 90-day period. If a driver's license renewal examination is required, this examination must be taken and will not be waived. In those cases in which reciprocal agreements exist with driver's licensing entities in other

557 jurisdictions, the Illinois examination shall be administered by a
558 qualified representative of the jurisdiction, and the results reported
559 to and accepted by the Illinois Department.
560

561 4) Religious Head Coverings in the issuance of a driver's license or an
562 identification card

563
564 A) The wearing of religious head coverings for the photograph shall
565 be allowed if the head covering does not cover any area of the
566 open face and if the applicant~~driver~~ signs a declaration stating that
567 a~~his/her~~ sincerely held religious belief requires the person to wear
568 an unconcealed religious head covering when in public, that in
569 observation and exercise of the applicant's religious beliefs, the
570 applicant does not normally remove the religious head covering in
571 public unless removal is necessary, at the applicant's discretion,
572 and that the applicant does not remove the head covering in public
573 as a matter of courtesy or protocol, such as when in court.
574

575 B) An applicant~~A driver~~ who meets the requirements of subsection
576 (b)(4)(A) will be given a declaration to be signed. In addition to
577 the statements in subsection (b)(4)(A), the declaration shall include
578 the following:
579

580 i) The applicant's name, address, and driver's license or
581 identification card number;

582
583 ii) The language "Under penalties as provided by law pursuant
584 to Section 1-109 of the Illinois Code of Civil Procedure, the
585 undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this
586 declaration are true and correct."; and
587

588 iii) A place for the applicant's~~driver's~~ signature and date.
589

590 e) ~~TVDL applicants or holders are not eligible for an exception under subsection~~
591 ~~(b)(3).~~
592

593 c~~d~~) Hearings
594 Should the Director deny the issuance of a driver's license or identification card
595 without a photograph ~~and~~/or signature, the individual may appeal that decision by
596 requesting in writing a hearing pursuant to IVC Section 2-118.
597

598 (Source: Amended at 48 Ill. Reg. _____, effective _____)